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CHAPTER 1 - STATE CAPTURE AT TRANSNET

The terms of reference and legal framework

1. The Commission is required to investigate allegations of state capture, corruption
and fraud in Transnet. In the period between 2010 and 2018 Transnet was involved
in major procurements of locomotives, network services and infrastructure
expansion. The evidence reveals extensive wrongdoing by some members of the

board of directors and senior executives at Transnet during the relevant period.

2. The terms of reference (“TORs”) of the Commission in relevant part require it to
determine: i) whether attempts were made to influence members of the National
Executive, office bearers or employees of Transnet through any form of
inducement or any form of gain;* ii) whether the President or any members of the
National Executive, public official or employee of Transnet breached or violated the
Constitution or any relevant ethical code or legislation by facilitating the unlawful
awarding of tenders to benefit the Gupta family or any other family, individual or
corporate entity doing business with government or any organ of state; iii) the
nature and extent of corruption in the awarding of contracts, tenders to companies,
business entities or organisations by Transnet; and iv) the nature and extent of
corruption in the awarding of contracts and tenders to companies, business entities
or organisations by government departments, agencies and entities - particularly,

whether any member of the National Executive (including the President), public

! Including gratifications and property as defined in the Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act 12 of
2004 (“PRECCA”) and the Prevention of Organised Crime Act 121 of 1998 (“POCA”)



official, functionary of any organ of state influenced the awarding of tenders to

benefit themselves, their families or entities in which they held a personal interest.?

3. TOR 7 provides that the Commission shall, where appropriate, refer any matter for
prosecution, further investigation or the convening of a separate enquiry to the
appropriate law enforcement agency, government department or regulator
regarding the conduct of certain persons. The standard of proof in making findings
therefore must be guided by the objects of the Commission. A commission of
inquiry is investigative by nature and does not apply (and is not bound by) the
ordinary rules of evidence. It may rely on hearsay evidence, representations, or
submissions without sworn evidence. While the Commission may make
determinations of certain facts on the probabilities, a referral to prosecution or
further investigation may be made on the basis of a prima facie case with
reasonable prospects of corroboration by other evidence sufficient to meet the
requisite standard of proof. There must be an objective reasonable basis for

believing that a crime or misconduct may have been committed.?

4. The TORs arise from, and are to be construed, in the light of the report of the
Public Protector. The report followed her preliminary investigation into allegations
of improper conduct by the President, other state functionaries and the Gupta
enterprise in the removal and appointment of ministers and directors of SOEs and
the possibly corrupt award of state contracts. The Public Protector specifically
identified for further investigation various contracts awarded by Transnet to three
financial services companies with links to the Gupta enterprise: McKinsey Ltd,

Regiments Capital (Pty) Ltd and Trillian Capital (Pty) Ltd.

2TOR 1.1, TOR 1.4, TOR 1.5and TOR 1.9
3 See section 27 of the National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998



9 The conduct of the role players in the capture of Transnet must be evaluated in
terms of the constitutional requirement of an accountable public sector* and the
legal framework established to deal with corruption, fraud, money laundering and
racketeering. Section 217(1) of the Constitution requires that, when an organ of
state contracts for goods or services, it must do so in accordance with a tendering
system that is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-effective. The
Public Finance Management Act® (“PFMA”) was enacted to give effect to these

broad principles laid down in the Constitution.

6. Transnet is defined as a major public entity in Schedule 2 of the PFMA and is thus
subject to its provisions. Section 51(1)(a)(iii) of the PFMA obliges the accounting
authority (the board)® of a public entity to ensure that the public entity concerned
has and maintains an appropriate procurement and provisioning system which is
fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-effective. In terms of section 50
and section 51 of the PFMA the board of Transnet is enjoined to exercise the duty
of utmost care to ensure reasonable protection of the assets of the public entity”
and to act with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in Transnet's best interests in
managing its financial affairs.? It is a criminal offence for the board or its members,
and officials of Transnet to whom powers have been delegated by the board,®

wilfully or in a grossly negligent way to fail to comply with the duties and

4 Section 195 of the Constitution
5 Act 1 of 1999

6 Section 49 of the PFMA

7 Section 50(1)(a) of the PFMA
& Section 50(1)(b) of the PFMA
¥ Section 57(d) of the PFMA.



responsibilities set out in section 50 and section 51 of the PFMA, punishable by a

fine or imprisonment not exceeding five years.'

7 The obligations of the board of Transnet in terms of section 51(1)(a)(iii) of the
PFMA to ensure that Transnet has and maintains an appropriate procurement and
provisioning system, and to act with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in the best
interests of the public entity in managing its financial affairs, are reflected in its
Procurement Procedures Manual (“PPM"). Paragraph 5.1.2 of the PPM requires all
Transnet employees to: i) act with integrity and professionalism at all times; ii) be
honest; iii) protect Transnet’s assets; iv) refrain from using a position of authority
and/or facilities provided by Transnet to further their own interests or that of friends
and relatives; v) desist from allowing personal interests to influence business
decisions; and vi) maintain an attitude of zero tolerance toward any form of bribery,

corruption and inducements.

8. Many instances of wrongdoing in procurements at Transnet between 2011 and
2018 possibly amounted to planned offences as part of a pattern of racketeering
activity conducted by a racketeering enterprise (comprising a group of individuals
and companies associated in fact) aligned with the Gupta family and its associated
companies. In terms of the Prevention of Organised Crime Act'' (“‘POCA”), a
pattern of racketeering activity comprises two planned, ongoing, continuous or
repeated offences contemplated in Schedule 1 of POCA including: i) offences
under the Prevention and Combatting of Corrupt Activities Act'? (*“PRECCA”) —
corruption; ii) the common law offences of extortion, theft, fraud, forgery and

uttering; iii) offences related to exchange control; iv) money laundering as enacted

10 Section 86(2) of the PFMA.
1 Act 121 of 1998.
12 Act 12 of 2004.



in POCA; and v) any offence the punishment wherefore may be imprisonment

exceeding one year without the option of a fine.

9. Racketeering consists not necessarily in the commission of a specific act of
dishonest, corrupt or fraudulent conduct by an individual. The focus is on the
relationship between the accused, the enterprise and the pattern of racketeering
activities. Section 2(1) of POCA provides two categories of racketeering offences:
participation offences and offences associated with receiving and using property
derived from racketeering activities. The recurring elements in all of the offences
under section 2(1) are the pattern of racketeering activity and the enterprise. A
racketeering activity is an event. The relationship of the events to one another, or
of an event to the enterprise, or of an event to a common objective of the
enterprise, establishes a pattern.’ The participation offences are the acquiring of
any interest in or control of any enterprise, participation in the conduct of the
enterprise's affairs and the management of the operation or activities of an
enterprise, through a pattern of racketeering activity.'* The receipt and use of
property (very broadly defined) derived from racketeering activity on behalf of an

enterprise or for the enterprise are also offences.’

10. In addition to the common law offence of fraud, two statutory offences listed in
Schedule 1 of POCA are of particular relevance to the analysis of the scheme of
capture at Transnet: corruption and offences relating to the proceeds of unlawful
activities, including money laundering. Corruption is a statutory offence in terms of
PRECCA. Anybody who accepts any gratification from anybody else, or gives any

gratification to anybody else, in order to influence the receiver to conduct himself in

13 A Kruger: Organised Crime and Proceeds of Crime in South Africa 2013, 2™ Ed, LexisNexis, p 23.
14 Section 2(1)(d)-(f) of POCA.
15 Section 2(1)(a)-(c) of POCA.



a way which amounts to the unlawful exercise of any duties, commits corruption.
Gratification is broadly defined in PRECCA, and includes essentially any valuable
consideration. The gratification must be accepted or given as an inducement to act

in a certain manner.

11. Section 1 of the Financial Intelligence Centre Act'® (“FICA”) defines money
laundering as an activity which has or is likely to have the effect of concealing or
disguising the nature, source, location, disposition or movement of the proceeds of
unlawful activities or any interest which anyone has in such proceeds. POCA
creates a number of specific money laundering offences. Section 4 of POCA
outlaws the crime of money laundering. It prohibits any person from entering into
any agreement, engaging in any arrangement or transaction,’” or performing any
other act,'® with anyone, in connection with property that is or forms part of the
proceeds of unlawful activities (being any property or any service, advantage,
benefit or reward which was derived, received or retained in connection with or as
a result of any unlawful activity). The offence is committed if that person knows or
ought reasonably to have known that the property constitutes the proceeds of
unlawful activities (“the requisite knowledge”). In addition, the agreement,
arrangement or other act must have or be likely to have the effect of concealing or
disguising the nature, source, location, disposition or movement of the property or

the ownership of or interests in relation to it."®

12.  Money laundering thus usually involves an agreement or arrangement regarding
the proceeds of unlawful activities aimed at hiding their nature, source, location,

disposition or movement. The offence is also committed if the conduct has the

16 Act 38 of 2001.

17 Section 4(a) of POCA.

'8 Section 4(b) of POCA.

19 Section 4(a)-(b)(i) of POCA.



effect of enabling or assisting any person who has committed or commits an
offence to avoid prosecution;?° or, importantly, to remove or diminish any property

acquired as a result of the commission of an offence.?'

13. Section 5 of POCA creates the offence of assisting another to benefit from the
proceeds of unlawful activities. It prohibits firstly any person (with the requisite
knowledge) from entering into any arrangement with another person facilitating the
retention or the control of the proceeds of unlawful activities obtained by that
person.?? Additionally, it prohibits arrangements whereby the proceeds of unlawful
activities are used to: i) make funds available to the other person; ii) acquire
property; or iii) benefit him in any other way.?® Section 6 of POCA prohibits any
person (with the requisite knowledge) from acquiring, using or possessing property

that is or forms part of the proceeds of unlawful activities of another person.

14. Although contraventions of the PFMA will not be constitutive elements of the crime
of racketeering, not being listed under Schedule 1 of POCA, they will constitute
unlawful activity and any advantage, benefit etc. in connection with that activity will
be considered as the proceeds of an unlawful activity an element of money

laundering and the assistance offences.

An overview of state capture at Transnet

15. Transnet is the proprietor of all rail, ports and pipelines in South Africa. It is made
up of five operating divisions, namely, Transnet Freight Rail (“TFR”), Transnet Rail

Engineering (“TE"), Transnet National Ports Authority (“TNPA"), Transnet Port

20 gection 4(a)-(b)(ii) (aa) of POCA.
21 Section 4(a)-(b)(ii) (bb) of POCA.
22 Section 5(a) of POCA.
23 Section 5(b) of POCA.



Terminals (“TPT”) and Transnet Pipelines (“TPL”"). Its principal objective is the

optimal development of the freight system.

16. In 2011 Transnet embarked on the so-called Market Demand Strategy (“MDS”). Mr
Anoj Singh, the GCFO, and Mr Brian Molefe, the GCEOQ, played important roles in
the development of the MDS.?* The MDS is a counter-cyclical investment strategy
involving investment of R300 billion in TFR, TNPA, TPT, TPL and TE ahead of
demand on the premise that demand would peak within three years. The biggest
portion of the proposed investment spend was allocated to an accelerated
procurement of locomotives to enhance locomotive operational efficiency to enable
delivery against the MDS, the growth of volumes from 208 million tonnes to 350

million tonnes and create business opportunities for TE.

17. State capture at Transnet involved a systematic scheme of securing illicit and
corrupt influence or control over the decision-making. Corrupt actors sought to gain
control over staff appointments and governance bodies to influence large
procurements and capital expenditure by changing procurement mechanisms
(such as the use of confinements rather than open tenders), the altering of bid
criteria to favour corrupt suppliers, and the payment of inflated costs and advance
payments. Corrupt procurement practices were sustained by bringing approval
authority for high-value tenders (“HVTs") under centralised control and the
weakening of the internal controls designed to prevent corruption. Collusion
between individuals inside and outside of Transnet, as part of a co-ordinated effort
to access and re-direct funds and benefits in substantial procurements, resulted in
the strategic positioning of particular individuals in positions of responsibility. A

small group of senior executives and directors were strategically positioned to

24 Transcript 22 April 2021, p 156.



collude in the award of key contracts. The evidence further shows that key
employees at an operational level in Transnet were disempowered or marginalised
from participation in important procurement decisions which affected their work.
Internal controls were deliberately relegated with the result that irregularities went
unchecked. Procurement processes were manipulated to ensure preferential
treatment to certain suppliers linked to the Gupta enterprise. There was an
increased reliance on consulting and advisory services (McKinsey, Regiments and
Trillian) that was accompanied by the weakening of internal controls and the
payment of substantial fees for work that should have been done internally.?” These
fees were then shared with companies established and controlled by Mr Salim

Essa, an associate of the Gupta family, and laundered to the Gupta enterprise.

18. The results of this process were that Transnet became the primary site of State
Capture in financial terms. Mr Paul Holden, a director of Shadow World
Investigations, who submitted a report to the Commission regarding the “Gupta
Enterprise and the Capture of Transnet”, testified that Transnet contracts to the
value of approximately R41.204 billion were irregularly awarded for the benefit of
entities linked to the Gupta family or Mr Essa. This amount represents 72.21% of

the total State payments in respect of contracts tainted by State Capture.?*

19. Three persons were identified as the primary architects and implementers of state
capture at Transnet: Mr Brian Molefe, Mr Anoj Singh and Mr Siyabonga Gama. Mr
Molefe was appointed as the GCEO of Transnet in February 2011. He was
seconded as acting CEO of Eskom in April 2015 and became CEOQO of Eskom in
October 2015. Mr Singh was GCFO of Transnet from 2011 until he too was

seconded to Eskom as CFO in July 2015. Mr Gama was dismissed as CEQO of

% Transcript 7 May 2019, p 39-40.
26 FOF-20-006, para 2.
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TFR on 29 June 2010 but was reinstated to the same position in February 2011

under the very strange circumstances discussed below.

20. The former Minister of Public Enterprises, Mr Malusi Gigaba, was involved in the
appointment of Mr Molefe and Mr Singh as directors of Transnet, and in the
reinstatement of Mr Gama as the CEO of TFR. They in turn gave free reign to Mr
Igbal Sharma who in 2012 became the Chair of the influential Board Acquisitions
and Disposals Committee (“BADC") of the Transnet board. These appointments
were followed by the award of significant contracts that benefitted the Gupta

enterprise.

21. During the relevant period Transnet procured 1259 locomotives in three separate
procurement exercises (the 95, 100 and 1064 locomotive contracts) with a total
contract value of more than R60 billion. Evidence heard by the Commission
revealed serious procurement irregularities in respect of each of these procurement
transactions. The irregularities usually favoured bidders associated with the Gupta
enterprise. Investigations revealed: i) improper engagements with the successful
bidders; ii) irregular changes to the evaluation criteria benefiting the preferred
bidder; iii) a failure to levy delay penalties;?” iv) the improper use of the mechanism
of confinement (a process that does not involve opening the tender to the market in
cases justified by urgency, standardisation or highly specialised goods); v) the
questionable escalation of acquisition costs; vi) the request for proposals (“RFPs”)
not complying with legal requirements; vii) improper deviations when evaluating
technical compliance; viii) non-compliance with the local production and content

threshold and the award of tenders to bidders that did not meet the threshold; ix)

27 Transcript 7 May 2019, p 63-65; and Exh BB1(a), PSM-013, para 10.12.2
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impermissible batch pricing causing Transnet to incur an additional cost of R2.7

billion; and x) a corrupt relationship between the bidders and the Guptas.®

22. The evidence establishes that Mr Essa (using two shell companies — Regiments
Asia (Pty) Ltd and Tequesta (Pty) Ltd) concluded several so-called Business
Development Services Agreements (“BDSAs").?° These were essentially kickback
agreements with various companies based in Hong Kong associated with two of
the successful bidders in the locomotive procurements, China South Rail
Corporation Ltd (“CSR") and China North Rail Corporation Ltd (“CNR”) both
Chinese companies. These two companies merged in 2015 to become CRRC

Corporation Ltd.*

23. The evidence discloses that various subsidiaries of and companies associated with
CSR and CNR, incorporated in South Africa and abroad, played some part in the
various procurements of locomotives at Transnet. Thus, in relation to the
procurement and delivery of electric locomotives, bids were made and transactions
concluded variously by CSR, CSR Zhuzhou Electric Loco Co Ltd, CSR E-Loco
Supply (Pty) Ltd (“CSR-SA”) and CRRC E-Loco Supply (Pty) Ltd (“*CRRC-E-Loco”).
CNR acted similiarly in relation to the procurement of 232 diesel locomotives that
formed part of the procurement of the 1064 locomotives. Its relevant South African
subsidiary was CNR Rolling Stock South Africa (Pty) Ltd (“CNRRSSA”), which later
became CRRC SA Rolling Stock (Pty) Ltd (“CRRC-SA"). Other associated
companies that were parties to the kickback agreements included: CNR (Hong
Kong) Co Ltd, CSR (Hong Kong) Co Ltd, CRRC (Hong Kong) Ltd and CNR Dalian

Locomotive and Rolling Stock Co Ltd. Unfortunately, in many instances the

28 Transcript 7 May 2019, p 67-76; and Exh BB1(a), PSM-014, para 10.12.5
29 See for example Transnet-Ref-Bundle-05149.
30 SEQ 12/2020 para 7
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witnesses and documentary evidence before the Commission failed to identify the
relevant corporate entity precisely and merely referred to CSR or CNR. In the final
analysis, not much turns on this. Hence, the generic references to CSR and CNR
in this report should be taken to refer to the relevant company within the CRRC
group. Nonetheless, where it is possible and important to do so, the name of the

specific company involved in a transaction or conduct will be used.

24. In terms of the BDSA or kickback agreements, Mr Essa secured commissions of
21% paid to the shell companies. Mr Essa’s companies were to receive at least
R7.342 billion from CSR and CNR for the provision of advisory services for
Transnet's locomotive procurement when, as discussed later in this report, there is
no evidence of any true valuable consideration in the form of services for these
fees. Mr Essa’'s companies retained 15% of the payments with a significant portion
of the remaining 85% being paid to the Gupta racketeering enterprise.®' During that
time, Mr Sharma, the chairperson of the BADC of Transnet, had a matrix of

business relationships with Mr Essa.

25. During July 2015 Transnet approved the relocation costs of two of the original
equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), Bombardier Transportation South Africa (Pty)
Lid ("BT" or “Bombardier’) and CNR, amounting to R618.4 million and R647.2
million, respectively, for conducting their operations in Durban and not in Gauteng
as originally envisaged in the RFPs. The variation orders to the locomotive supply
agreements (“LSAs”) were inflated and inadequately evaluated by Transnet and a

fee of R67 million was paid in terms of a dubious BDSA between CNR and a

31 without powers of compulsion in relation to offshore bank accounts, the Commission has been unable to trace
all of these payments, but Mr Holden has traced aggregate payments of R3 400 558 015 by CRRC and its
predecessor companies to JJT, CGT, Regiments Asia and Tequesta. There is no reason to believe that the as
yet untraced kickbacks were not paid. Exh VV10A-Exec Sum-032 para 41 to -033 para 45 read with Exh VV-
PEH-1189 para 244 to -1198 para 270 and -1217 para 306 — 1218 para 308
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Gupta-linked company, BEX, with some of that being laundered to the Gupta

enterprise.

26. The appointment of financial advisors in relation to the 1064 locomotive
procurement was a significant part of the racketeering at Transnet between 2011
and 2016. This involved the siphoning of funds from Transnet through the use of
contracts for advisory services which sometimes provided little or no value for
hugely inflated fee payments. The evidence of Mr lan Sinton, the former General
Counsel of Standard Bank,* establishes that in October 2012 McKinsey agreed to
appoint Regiments as its supplier development partner (“SDP”) subject to
Regiments agreeing to share with Mr Essa 30% (later increased to 50%) and
Mr Kuben Moodley 5% of all income received from Transnet. Neither Mr Essa nor
Mr Moodley rendered any service beyond introducing Regiments to McKinsey and
Transnet. This was affordable because the consultancy rates that McKinsey
agreed with Transnet were substantially more than Regiments would have

accepted directly from Transnet.

27. More than R1 billion was laundered through various shell companies nominated by
Mr Essa and Mr Moodley out of fees paid by Transnet to Regiments in accordance
with this arrangement.*® All of these shell companies operated as out and out
money laundering vehicles without any legitimate business activities. Revenue
received from Regiments by these shell companies was within days, laundered to
lower level money laundering entities. None of the shell companies paid PAYE

(employees’ tax) to SARS.

32 Exh U10, IHSS-012 et seq

33 Mr Holden calculates the total amount of State Capture related Transnet payments to Regiments at
R1 023 161 529.89. This figure excludes an additional R248 729 210.00 in additional State Capture related
payments to Regiments by the Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund. See FOF-20-012, para 5
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28. The laundering arrangements with Mr Essa and Mr Moodley on joint
McKinsey/Regiments’ contracts with Transnet were fraudulently presented by
Regiments in joint McKinsey/Regiments bid submissions as Regiments’ supply
development arrangements. In 2021, as a result of an initiative of the Commission
to confront McKinsey with certain evidence, McKinsey agreed to repay R650

million to Transnet.®

29. Corruption also attended the hedging and risk mitigation of the funding
arrangements for the locomotive procurement. In relation to a loan of
USD1.5 billion advanced by the China Development Bank (“CDB”), Regiments was
paid a success fee of R189 million of which R147 million was paid to Albatime, a
company controlled by Mr Moodley. R122 million was then laundered to Sahara
Computers (Pty) Lid, a Gupta company. In relation to another funding
arrangement, “the ZAR Club loan” for R12 billion, Trillian Capital Partners (Pty) Ltd
(in which Mr Essa had an indirect 60% controlling interest, through Trillian Holdings
(Pty) Ltd) was paid R93 million for arranging the loan, when no services had in fact
been rendered. Four days later, R74 million of that amount was paid to Mr
Moodley’s company, Albatime. This amount would ultimately be laundered on to
secure a R104.5 million loan from the Bank of Baroda that was used by Tegeta
Exploration and Resources to pay part of the purchase price for the Optimum Coal

Mine_*®

30. Most of the corruption and money laundering associated with the locomotive
procurements and their financing happened while Mr Singh was the GCFO,
Mr Molefe and Mr Gama served as the GCEO (at different times), and Mr Sharma

was the chairperson of the BADC.

34 Letter addressed by Norton Rose Fulbright to the Acting Secretary of the Commission dated 12 August 2021
35 Transcript 25 June 2021, p 38-39
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31. There was also corruption in relation to key contracts for IT network and data
services outsourced by Transnet. During 2013 Transnet issued a substantial tender
for network services. After Neotel (Pty) Ltd had been identified as the preferred
bidder, Mr Molefe reversed the award and awarded it to T-Systems (a company
with Gupta links), the bidder that was ranked third in the scoring. Mr Molefe later
revoked his decision and the tender was awarded finally to Neotel. Various
irregularities attended the award of this tender - most significantly, substantial
improper payments were made by Neotel to Homix (Pty) Ltd, a company linked to
the Gupta enterprise.® In February 2017 there was a further attempt to favour T-
Systems. Transnet awarded an IT data services tender to T-Systems as the
second highest scoring bidder, rather than to the highest scoring bidder Gijima on
the spurious basis that there were objective criteria justifying such an award. The
matter was litigated and the decision was ultimately reversed and the award made
to Gijima.?” By the time that T-Systems was finally removed from its appointment, it
had paid over R3 million to Zestilor, a company nominally owned by Ms Zeenat
Osmany, the wife of Mr Essa, and R323 413 332.51 to Sechaba Computer

Systems, a subsidiary of Zestilor.®

32. There was also evidence of corruption in relation to Transnet's Manganese
Expansion Project (“MEP”). Unqualified persons associated with the Gupta
enterprise sought improperly to benefit from the project by seeking appointment as
SDPs and inflation of the contract price to accommodate payments for services

that added no value.

3 Neotel paid a total of R75 573 519 to Homix in relation to these Transnet contracts. Transcript 22 June 2021,
p 65

37 Transcript 7 May 2019, p 86-90; and Exh BB1(a), PSM-018-019, para 10.12.12-15

38 See FOF-09-093-100, paras 103-114; and Holden Executive Summary Exhibit VV10A FOF-20-037 — 038.
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33. Two other transactions in relation to the procurement of cranes for Transnet are of
interest. The contracts were concluded in the period 2011-2014 between Transnet
and two companies, ZPMC and Liebherr. The conclusion and execution of these
contracts was not subject to full investigation by the Commission. However, the
Holden Money Flow Reports, analysed fully in a separate report of the
Commission, indicates that these transactions were tainted by corruption and

contributed to the illegal flow of funds to the Gupta enterprise.

34. ZPMC was awarded the Transnet cranes contract (designated iCLM HQ 0762 by
Transnet) and received an aggregate amount of R877.81 million in payments from
Transnet in connection with the contract.*® Evidence shows that the contract was
probably procured by corrupt payments to the Gupta family via JJ Trading FZE, an
entity controlled by individuals from the Worlds Window Network, a major money
laundering operation. JJ Trading acted as a conduit through which moneys were

paid to the Gupta enterprise by ZPMC and CSR in relation to Transnet contracts.*°

35. ZPMC and JJ Trading FZE concluded an agreement dated 13 June 2011 in
relation to the cranes contract which had recently been advertised through tender
by Transnet, and for which ZPMC intended to submit a bid.*' JJ Trading’s
obligations under the contract included: i) the provision of information about the
project to ZPMC; ii) the acquisition of the tender documents; iii) the provision of
copies of the local laws and safety codes related to the project and information
pertaining to local customs; iv) assistance to the personnel of ZPMC for the
duration of the contract, including issuing invitation letters, communications with

Transnet, hotel reservations, airport pick up and send-off; and v) the protection of

39 FOF-09-151, para 192 read with FOF-13-345 to 374, Annexure 43 at FOF-13-358
40 FOF-06-220 to FOF-06-260
41 FOF-06-298, Annexure A
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ZPMC'’s interests. The ledgers of the Gupta Dubai companies found in the Gupta-
leaks show that, between 22 December 2011 and 30 January 2014, Gupta family
companies in Dubai were paid at least USD3,987,103 (equal to R34 million at the

time) in respect of these services.*?

36. The second cranes contract was between Liebherr and Transnet. On 17 February
2014, Liebherr announced that it had received the contract to supply 22 cranes to
TPT.*® Transnet ultimately paid Liebherr an aggregate amount of R841.1 million in

connection with this contract.*

37. Liebherr made at least eight payments aggregating to USD3,232,430.88 to the
Gupta enterprise company, Accurate Investments (based in Dubai), between
22 July 2013 and 26 May 2014.*° These payments were then laundered further to
various other companies in the Gupta enterprise. Liebherr has not provided any
details of the services that Accurate Investments allegedly provided as “sales
agent” to it in relation to the cranes contract.*®* The Gupta-leaks and the Dubai
ledgers in particular show that Accurate Investments was beneficially owned and
controlled by the Gupta enterprise,*” and its function was to act primarily as a

vehicle through which kickbacks could be laundered.

42 FOF-09-410 to 411, Table 237 read with FOF6-253 to 254, para 232. ZPMC did not seek to bring evidence to
the Commission to contradict the evidence against it in this regard, despite the fact that it was served with a Rule
3.3 notice inviting it to do so.

4 FOF-06-203, fn 3

4 FOF-09-151, Table 71

45 FOF-06-204, para 79 - FOF-06-215, para 124 - Note that in his overall money flows report, Mr Holden under
calculates these payments in the aggregate amount of USD2,593,480.86 because he fails to take account of
certain other payments.

46 FOF-06-1099, Annexure W

4T FOF-05-028 to 029, section 3.1; FOF-05-040, para 39; FOF-05-042 to 043, section 4.2; FOF-06-218, para 131
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38. A review of the Dubai ledgers shows that in 2013-2014, the only incoming funds
into Accurate Investments that were not sourced from other Gupta family
companies were funds paid by Liebherr*® and an unknown entity called VK Trading
Hong Kong.*? Accurate Investments incurred no notable expenses relating to rental
or salaries at any time during the period in which it was receiving payments from
Liebherr.*° It is difficult to conceive of any legitimate payments that could have been
made by Liebherr to a “sales agent” in respect of a cranes contract that ought to
have been awarded by a fair, competitive and transparent process in accordance
with the requirements of section 217 of the Constitution. If there was any legitimate
reason for these payments to Accurate Investments as a “sales agent”, Liebherr
could have been expected to place evidence before the Commission but it declined

to do so.

The restructuring of governance and the weakening of institutional controls

39. The capturing of Transnet involved the restructuring of governance and weakening
of internal controls. In particular, the centralisation of approval authority at the level
of the board and senior management in the hands of a few executives had the
effect of shielding procurement processes from the scrutiny of a wider group of

Transnet officials who could have detected and reported irregularities.

40. A rule of practice existed that key procurement documents, such as RFPs,
confinements, condonations and variations to contracts had to be reviewed by

Group Governance® at Transnet to assess compliance with the regulatory

4% FOF-06-218, para 131

49 FOF-06-218, para 131

50 FOF-05-113 to 117, Annexure A

51 Group Governance at Transnet performs four functions: i) policies and procedures; ii) transactional advice; iii)

training and development; and iv) compliance and monitoring.
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framework before sign off.*? This practice came not to be observed and contracts of
substantial value, tainted with corruption were concluded, usually through the
process of confinement (confining enquiries for required goods/services to one or a
limited number of bidders)® rather than open tender, without prior scrutiny and

review by governance and procurement specialists within Transnet.>

41. Historically, the board of Transnet was not directly involved in procurement. Prior to
2011, the board did not have any delegation of authority for procurement-related
activities.® These responsibilities were introduced during 2011 with the creation of
the BADC as a sub-committee of the board. Under the 2011 DOA framework, the
BADC was empowered to approve approaches to market and to conclude
contracts for HVTs exceeding RS500 million. The timing of the BADC's
establishment in February 2011 and the changes to the delegation of authority
framework that afforded individual executives greater authority coincided with Mr

Molefe's appointment as GCEO on 16 February 2011.

42. The subsequent expansion of the BADC's authority and procurement powers over
time closely tracked the injection of funds for capital expenditure and the
consolidation of power in Transnet by Mr Molefe, Mr Singh and Mr Sharma. The
MDS was announced in April 2012, Mr Singh was permanently appointed as
GCFO in July 2012, and Mr Sharma was appointed Chair of the BADC in August
2012. In step with these developments, the BADC’'s approval authority was
increased during 2012 to tenders up to R2 billion, with the board itself able to

approve tenders above R2 billion. The 2013 delegation of authority framework

52 Exh BB2.1(a), PSV-0005, para 16.2

53 Para 15 of PPM (2013), Annexure PV 7, Exh BB2.1(b), PSV-0477

3 This has changed since the appointment of the new board in 2018. Group Governance now ensures that
procurement documentation meets the required standard before being submitted for sign off.

5 Exh BB2.1(a), PSV-0010, para 25
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added bid adjudication to the BADC’s powers and extended the authority of the
GCFO to R750 million and the GCEO to R1 billion. By 2016, the BADC’s approval
authority increased to R3 billion. This was accompanied by a concomitant
disempowerment of Transnet's operating divisions in relation to procurement
decisions and concentrated significant authority in the hands of a few individuals.
The increase in authority worked to the benefit of the Gupta enterprise. The
evidence shows that many of the irregularities that attended the HVT procurements
between 2011 and 2017 took place within the BADC or at the instance of the
GCEO and GCFO, on occasions when they acted without the prior scrutiny and

review of Group Governance.*®

43. There are three stages (comprising a cycle of nine steps) in the procurement
process at Transnet. The first is a planning stage; the second is the actual
procurement stage; and the third is the implementation stage where the contract is
in place and must be implemented. The process usually starts with demand
planning and management, where the business requirements are articulated,
assessed, validated and checked against budget. A business case is prepared and
approval to proceed is sought. This requires the establishment of a cross-functional
sourcing team (“CFST") which prepares the specifications and devises a sourcing
strategy and may involve consideration of proceeding by confinement rather than

open tender.®” Approval to approach the markets is then obtained in accordance

5 See the evidence of Mr Singh on this topic at Transcript 22 April 2021, p 163-169 — Mr Singh gave evidence
before the Commission over eight days and filed a number of affidavits. On 13 December 2021, he belatedly filed
a re-examination affidavit which he had undertaken to file on or before 3 July 2021. He did so without seeking
condonation or providing any explanation for the late filing. The re-examination affidavit (Transnet-05-2351)
raises some issues for the first time and discusses matters that could have been dealt with during his testimony.
Given that the re-examination affidavit was filed shortly before the Commission was due to deliver its report
(possibly deliberately and strategically), the investigative team of the Commission has been denied the
opportunity to deal with the new matters raised in it thus affecting its evidentiary value.

57 Transcript 9 May 2019, p 73
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with the relevant delegation of authority. The CFST considers the procurement
strategy and writes the RFP. The RFP is then advertised and issued. The receipt of
the bids is followed by bid evaluation, the production of the evaluation report,
shortlisting, negotiations with preferred bidders, the award of the contract and

contract management.®®

44 Evaluation of tenders at Transnet normally followed the classic two phase
methodology of the public sector. The bid evaluation process (steps 5-7 of the nine
step cycle) commences with a preliminary stage 1 in which bids are assessed for
administrative and substantive responsiveness. Bids are regarded as
administratively responsive if all mandatory documents are received. Bids are
regarded as substantively responsive if all pre-qualification criteria are met
(e.g. technical or B-BBEE criteria). In designated sectors® bids that meet the test
for responsiveness (both administrative and substantive) progress to the threshold
stage in stage 1 for determination of whether the bid meets the threshold for local
production and content (“LC”"). The second threshold in stage 1 involves the award
of a combination of points for supplier development (“SD") and the B-BBEE score
card.%? A bidder will need to meet a percentage (threshold) based on a combination
of SD and B-BBEE before qualifying for assessment on functionality or quality - the
technical requirements of the tender. The functionality stage involves a process of

scoring bids against various functionality criteria, such as technical compliance,

58 Transcript 9 May 2019, p 71 et seq; and see diagram at Annexure PV 2, Exh BB 2.1(a), PSV-0111

5 The Department of Trade and Industry has designated various sectors for local production and content
e.g. buses, office furniture, rail rolling stock, electrical cables etc. In cases involving local content, bidders must
meet the minimum prescribed percentage for local content in order to be considered further. This is expressed as
a percentage of the bid price. For example, in respect of rail rolling stock, bidders must indicate that a minimum
of 55% of the bid price for diesel locomotives will be spent on local production.

80 As provided in the Code of Good Practice issued in terms of section 9(1) of the Broad-Based Black Economic
Empowerment Act 53 of 2003 ("B-BBEE Act”).
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previous experience, quality etc. Bids that do not meet the thresholds are

disqualified from further assessment.

45. In stage 2 bids are assessed for price and preference. The elements of price and
preference are used to compare bidders against each other. SD and B-BBEE are
scored again in stage 2. In stage 1 SD and B-BBEE are disqualifiers, meaning that
the bidder needed to meet a minimum threshold. In stage 2, the idea is to
differentiate between bidders who give a superior SD offering and those who just
meet the basics. Bidders are allocated points out of 100 for price and preference
and the bid must be awarded to the bidder who scores the highest points overall.
Where the value of the tender is expected to be between R30 000 and R50 million,
80 points are allocated to price and 20 to B-BBEE (preference). For tenders above
R50 million, 90 points are allocated to price and 10 for preference. The points for
price are determined by using a pre-determined formula, in which the lowest priced
bid scores the maximum number of points (80 or 90 points as the case may be).
The points for preference are allocated based on the bidders' B-BBEE scorecard.
Bidders with B-BBEE recognition level 1 are allocated the maximum number of
points (20 or 10 as the case might be) with fewer points allocated to bidders with
lower B-BBEE levels, based on a pre-determined scale. In addition to the B-BBEE
scorecard, points are awarded for Further Recognition Criteria (“FRC”) to mitigate
the fact that the scorecard might not be current. The points for price are then added
to the points for preference to determine the bidder with the highest number of
points. In terms of section 2(1)(f) of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework
Act®' (“PPPFA"), the tender must be awarded to the bidder with the highest number
of points, unless “objective criteria” justify the award of the tender to a bidder other

than the highest-scoring bidder.

51 Act 5 of 2000
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46. There were several problems in procurement practice at Transnet during the period
investigated by this Commission.®? In general these included: i) inadequate needs
assessment; ii) poor or biased development and drafting of specifications; iii) under
budgeting; iv) inappropriate deviations from the open bidding processes; v) short
time for bidders to respond to tenders possibly intended to favour preferred
bidders; vi) changing evaluation criteria during bid evaluation and adjudication; vii)
inconsistent application of disqualification criteria; viii) improper overruling of the
evaluation team; ix) manipulation of scores; x) the opportunistic use of risk factors
as a reason to disqualify top-ranked bidders; xi) multiple repetitive awards to the
same supplier; xii) awards not made by the official with the delegated authority; xiii)
poor contract management; xiv) abuse of variation procedures; xv) failure to pursue
contractual remedies for delay and breach; and xvi) inadequate validation of

services rendered prior to payment.®?

47. Group Governance at Transnet was concerned about the changed delegation of
authority framework, as it effectively granted authority to individuals to act as an
acquisition council despite the complexity of the adjudication requiring a multi-
disciplinary approach taking account of finance, legal, governance, compliance, tax
and business etc. It is virtually impossible for any single person to possess all this
expertise. The restructuring was accompanied by informal, but significant, shifts in
governance culture and procurement practices that added to the centralisation of
power in a small group of top executives and board members. Recommendations
were routinely presented directly to the board for approval, rather than benefitting
from internal review and scrutiny. The result was that high-value procurement
decisions by the board were often uninformed or made on the basis of advice

received from external advisors and consultants. The concentration of power in a

62 Exh BB2.1(a), PSV-0015-0024 and PSV-0031 et seq.
63 Exh BB2.1(a), Annexure PV 2, PSV-0112; and Transcript 9 May 2019, p 86-99
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small group of senior executives and board members appears to have fostered an
authoritarian culture of decision-making rather than inclusive and transparent

deliberation.®

48. The inappropriate use of confinements, emergency procurement and contract
variations also aided corruption at Transnet.®® Deviations from the open bid process
helped to facilitate capture.®® The procurement mechanism that applies by default
within Transnet is the open-tender process. Confinements are a deviation from the
general rule of open-tenders. Confinements are permissible only in instances of:
(a) genuine urgency; (b) limited supplier source; (c) standardization; and (d) goods
or services that are highly specialized and largely identical to those previously
procured from the supplier. Misuse of the confinement process can undermine

competition and lead to entrenching monopolies within Transnet.®”

49. The practice of permitting the GCEO to award tenders by confidential confinement
was also abused. Confinements were normally reviewed by the CEO and CPO of
the operating division, and then would be considered by an acquisition council.
Confidential confinements went straight from the CEO of the operating division to
the GCEO without any prior review. Under the delegation of authority framework,
when Mr Molefe and Mr Gama were GCEOQO, it was possible for a confidential
confinement of a tender worth R1 billion to go straight to the GCEO without much
internal review. This happened with the substantial tenders awarded to McKinsey

and Regiments for financial advisory services where substantial “fees” were

64 See Exh BB1(a), PSM-010 et seq; Exh BB3(a), MSM-032; Exh BB7(a), GJJVDW-008 et seq; and Transcript 9
May 2019, p 115-116

55 Transcript 9 May 2019, p 119-127; and Exh BB2.1(a), PSV-0017, para 45.4

66 Transcript 9 May 2019, p 82-83

87 Para 15.1.1 of the PPM
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laundered to the Gupta enterprise. The 2019 delegation of authority framework at

Transnet no longer permits confidential confinements.®®

50. The extent of permissible contract variation was also an issue. At Transnet a rule
was introduced that allowed an acquisition council to approve a variation of up to
40% of the original contract value and variations above 40% to be approved by a
higher level authority. This has been changed. Contract variations are now
governed by National Treasury Instruction 3 of 2016/17 in terms of which Transnet
can only approve a contract variation of 20% or R20 million for construction-related

works or services and 15% or R15 million for non-construction works or services.

91. There were also instances where amendments were made to evaluation criteria
subsequent to the receipt of bids. Paragraph 13 of the PPM provides that
evaluation criteria must be unambiguous, rational and justifiable, quantifiable,
predetermined and objective. The requirement that evaluation criteria are to be
determined means that the evaluation criteria must be stated upfront in the RFP
document and no evaluation criteria should be used in the evaluation process that

were not stipulated in the RFP document.

52. Finally, the effectiveness of internal controls was also undermined by limiting
access to information that would expose corruption. The upward flow of information
was deliberately filtered so that limited information reached the board. The internal
audit unit, which should ideally report directly to the audit committee of the board,
had to “dilute” and “be selective” about what report reached the board and the audit

committee. This practice of withholding the disclosure of audit information appears

58 Transcript 9 May 2019, p 65-69
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to have continued, as the investigators tasked by the new Transnet board were

unable to obtain many reports from the internal audit unit.®®

53. During the period under investigation, internal structures at Transnet were
increasingly marginalised from procurement processes and their functions were
outsourced to private firms. More particularly, the Transnet treasury was
marginalised in key financial transactions and ultimately made redundant as its
work was taken over and outsourced to Regiments.”® The role of the treasury at
Transnet is to ensure that the Transnet Group has enough cash to meet all its
operational and capital requirements by ensuring that funding is sourced cost
effectively within approved risk parameters and without breaching key financial
ratios. In terms of the MDS, Transnet intended to fund over two thirds of its CAPEX

plan through internally generated funds with the remainder funded externally.”

54. During the relevant period, the Transnet treasury team had a complement of about
40 staff members with multi-disciplinary skills, competencies and experience. The
staff included mathematicians, accountants, investment bankers, commercial
lawyers, traders, financiers and economists, who were all highly experienced with
an average of 10-30 years of experience in their respective fields.”? Despite this
extensive functional expertise and experience within its treasury, Transnet
engaged financial advisors (with links to the Gupta enterprise) at enormous cost to
manage the financing of the approximately R70 billion procurement of locomotives
undertaken by Transnet between 2012 and 2017. The use of external financial
advisors was for the most part unwarranted since Transnet had the necessary

specialist expertise and capacity. Transnet treasury had all the ability, sKkills,

69 Transcript 7 May 2019, p 34-35
70 Exh BB10(a), MEM-001 et seq
71 Exh BB10({a), MEM-009, para 24; see also the testimony of Mr Molefe — Transcript 8 March 2021, p 189 et seq
72 Exh BB10(a), MEM-004, para 7
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qualifications and experience to raise debt and execute financial transactions in
most markets. After the appointment of Mr Phetolo Ramosebudi as the Group
Treasurer, the skills and capability within treasury were not utilised as they could

have been.”™

President Zuma’s refusal to appoint a GCEO

55.

56.

Mr Popo Molefe, the current chairperson of the Transnet board, testified that the
problems with governance and procurement at Transnet escalated with the
appointment by Cabinet of Mr Brian Molefe as GCEO (on the recommendation of
the then Minister of Public Enterprises, Mr Gigaba) in 2011. Mr Molefe, Mr Singh
and Mr Gama in their testimony before the Commission denied their involvement in
state capture, corruption and any association with or participation in the Gupta
racketeering enterprise. The evidence, however, shows that all three had
significant contact with the Gupta family, who benefitted considerably from the

corruption at Transnet during the time they presided over the affairs of Transnet.™

Mr Molefe, Mr Singh and Mr Gama facilitated the conclusion of irregular contracts
at inflated prices, variously through deviations, improper confinements and the
changing of tender evaluation criteria, in order to facilitate entry for companies
involved in the extensive money laundering scheme directed by Mr Essa on behalf
of the Gupta enterprise. Mr Sharma, as a member of the board and later the Chair

of the influential BADC also played a part. He was a business associate of Mr

73 Transnet-Ref-Bundle-06841. As is pointed out in Part 1, Vol 1 of this Report (on Aviation), Mr Ramosebudi had
a longstanding corrupt relationship with Regiments Capital from his days at ACSA and SAA. The marginalisation

of the Transnet Treasury and the outsourcing of its functions to Regiments Capital appears to have been linked

to this corrupt relationship.
™ Transcript 7 May 2019, p 15 and p 41
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Essa.75 Mr Gigaba, Mr Molefe and Mr Singh were regular visitors to the Gupta
compound in Saxonwold, Johannesburg from where the corrupt enterprise
operated in South Africa.”® Mr Gama too had interaction with Mr Essa and visited
the Gupta compound. Other role players implicated in the scheme of wrongdoing
include Mr Garry Pita, who held various positions including the GCSCO and
GCFO; Mr Thamsanqga Jiyane who at relevant times was the Chief Procurement
Officer (“CPQ”) at TFR; and Mr Ramosebudi, the Group Treasurer appointed in

2015.

57. State capture at Transnet began with the resignation of Ms Maria Ramos as GCEO
of Transnet in 2009 and the election of Mr Jacob Zuma as President of the
Republic. In May 2009, following the national elections, President Zuma appointed
Ms Barbara Hogan as Minister of Public Enterprises. From Ms Hogan's earliest
days in office President Zuma interfered and sought to thwart her appointment of a

new GCEO of Transnet.””

58. Ms Hogan submitted a statement to the Commission which she stated was
intended “to illustrate from my personal experience as Minister of Public
Enterprises (from 11 May 2009 to October 2010) the extent to which the former
President of South Africa, President Zuma improperly and recklessly interfered in
matters relating to the appointment of Board of Directors and Chief Executive

Officers (CEQs) of State Owned Enterprises (SOEs)". She added that the actions

75 They were co-directors and shareholders in a number of companies - Exh BB 30.

76 Transcript 7 May 2019, p 50

7T Transcript 12 November 2018, and Exh L 1 - Ms Hogan joined the African National Congress as an
underground political activist in 1977. In 1981 she was detained by the Apartheid Police and was charged with
high treason against the Apartheid state. Her conviction for high treason was based on her political activities
against Apartheid. She was sentenced to an effective ten years imprisonment. She was released from prison a

week after the unbanning of the African National Congress and other political organisations in February 1990.
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of President Zuma “damaged and embedded an ethos of political corruption,

nepotism, lack of accountability and corruption in our body politics.”

After the resignation of Ms Ramos, Mr Chris Wells was appointed the acting
GCEO. In early 2009, the Transnet board, following a selection process,
recommended Mr Pravin Gordhan as its only candidate for the GCEQ position. A
week later, Mr Gordhan withdrew his candidature and ultimately was appointed the

Minister of Finance after the General Elections of May 2009.

Mr Gama was a candidate for the position at the same time. Mr Gama had served
as the CEO of TFR since 2005. In early 2008 there was an investigation into Mr
Gama’s conduct following allegations of corruption in relation inter alia to the
procurement of security services from General Nyanda Security Advisory Services
(Pty) Ltd (*GNS™), a company controlled by General Siphiwe Nyanda, then a
Minister and member of President Zuma’'s Cabinet. An investigation established
that there was a prima facie case of misconduct against Mr Gama. Ms Hogan
accordingly formed the opinion that the serious nature of the allegations against Mr
Gama precluded him from appointment as GCEQO. The board also considered Mr
Gama unsuitable for appointment as GCEO as, in addition to the allegations of
corruption, an assessment revealed worrying concerns about his judgement and
‘important gaps, relative to the requirements for this position” and that Mr Gama

required “greater cognitive development to handle the complexity of the position”.

After a second process, the board recommended the appointment of Mr Sipho
Maseko who was a highly capable and experienced black candidate with the
requisite experience and admirable managerial capabilities. Mr Maseko set out his
qualifications, skills and experience at the time he was interviewed for the position

in an affidavit filed with the Commission. He holds the degrees of BA, LLB and has



30

held various management positions, mostly in BP Southern Africa. At the time of
his interview he was the Chief Executive Officer of BP Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd
and was in charge of 4000 employees. He has served as a Non-Executive Director,
BP Botswana (Risk Sub-Committee); Executive Member, BP Southern Africa
(Transformation Sub-Committee); Chairperson, BP/Shell Zimbabwe (Risk
Committee); and Non-Executive Director, Center for Development & Enterprise —
CDE (Policy Sub Committee). The memorandum recommending his appointment

stated:

“Mr Sipho Maseko is recommended on the basis of the strength he displayed against
the competency profile and in comparison with the other candidates who were
interviewed. According to the assessment provided by the Board, Mr Sipho Maseko
has also demonstrated the requisite track record to ensure the drive for efficiencies
and growth in Transnet as well as the necessary linkages and support with the

relevant role players and stakeholders.”

62. Mr Gama was a candidate for the position during this process as well but was
again found not to be suitable. False reports then appeared in the media that Mr
Gama was being victimized by an anti-transformation white cabal that had
instituted an inquiry (and later disciplinary proceedings) to prevent him from

being appointed asthe GCEO."®

63. According to Ms Hogan, at a meeting in June 2009, President Zuma indicated that
he was not prepared to accept the appointment of the board’s candidate, Mr
Maseko, and insisted that Mr Gama be appointed. When Ms Hogan resisted this on

the basis that he was not the board’s preferred candidate and was facing

78 Mr Maseko was Black, as were the majority of the members of Transnet board.
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disciplinary proceedings, President Zuma adopted the position that no new

appointments would be made at Transnet until the proceedings were completed.”

64. On 28 July 2009, Ms Hogan sent President Zuma a decision memorandum
detailing the selection process, the strong motivation for the appointment of Mr
Maseko, the investigation into Mr Gama, and the corporate governance
aspects of GCEO appointments. The report recommended the approval of
the submission of a Cabinet memorandum recommending the appointment of Mr

Maseko as Transnet's GCEO without delay.®

65. The decision memorandum extensively set out the allegations which were being
investigated against Mr Gama as well as what had been done or was being done to
investigate the allegations. A reading of that memorandum leaves little doubt that
the allegations against Mr Gama were of a very serious nature. Ms Hogan
effectively told President Zuma in the memorandum that the charges against Mr
Gama were not ‘trumped up’ or trivial but potentially significant and the board
would be failing in its fiduciary duty if it did not complete the investigation in
accordance with due process. She also pointed out that the board was confident
that the substance and method of the recruitment and selection process were kept
discrete from the investigations. Ms Hogan also told President Zuma that the board
had not at any stage shortlisted Mr Gama as the second in-line preferred candidate
to Mr Gordhan and that the board embarked on an extended search after the
withdrawal of Mr Gordhan as it was not confident that the other candidates

available, including Mr Gama, were suitable for the position.

TExhL1,p10, para 34
80 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 75, line 11 — p 76, line 25
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Paragraph 2.4 of the memorandum indicates that the memorandum was prepared
after certain questions and concerns had been raised. That is because in that
paragraph Ms Hogan said to President Zuma that due to the delay in the
appointment of the GCEO and media speculation, it had become critical for the
shareholder to resolve the appointment of the CEO and to re-establish leadership
stability at Transnet. The memorandum, she said, “serves to address questions
and concerns raised with a view to agreement on the way forward in appointing a

CEO for Transnet as soon as possible.”

In the context of Ms Hogan's evidence about her discussion with President Zuma
earlier in June 2009, the questions and concerns referred to in this excerpt had to
be questions and concerns that were raised in the earlier or previous discussion

between Ms Hogan and President Zuma.

In that memorandum all the candidates who were considered during the first
recruitment process that produced Mr Gordhan as the board’'s recommended
candidate were disclosed. They included Mr Gama who was an internal candidate.
With regard to the candidates other than the candidate that the board

recommended at that stage, namely, Mr Gordhan, the memorandum said:

“‘Regarding the assessment of the other candidates, the Board reported to the
Minister that ‘the other candidates were found to be less suitable for the position or
not suitable at all. The preferred internal candidate, Mr Siyabonga Gama, was
thoroughly considered but the Board is of the view that his assessment showed that
there are important gaps, relative to the requirements for the position. According to
the independent assessment and Board evaluation, he currently requires greater

cognitive development to handle the complexity of this position.”

The description of Mr Gama as “the preferred internal candidate” begs the question
of whose preferred candidate he was? It seems probable that this description

meant that Mr Gama was President Zuma'’s preferred candidate. That is the most
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logical meaning of that phrase in the second sentence. It thus corroborates Ms
Hogan's version that President Zuma wanted Mr Gama to be appointed as the
GCEO of Transnet. It is inconsistent with Mr Zuma’s version that he had no
preferred candidate and that he did not tell Ms Hogan that he wanted Mr Gama for

that position and nobody else.

Ms Hogan informed President Zuma in the memorandum that she intended
approaching Cabinet with a view to getting it to approve her recommendation to
appoint Mr Maseko as the GCEO as also recommended by the board. Ms Hogan

had this to say in the memorandum, which is quite telling:

“Regarding the position of Mr Siyabonga Gama, the Board has assured me
that it will continue to ensure that due process is followed in the investigation
involving him and that... he is not prejudiced. Should any litigation follow from
the investigation, it is best processed discretely from the appointment of the
CEOQO; | have been informed that whilst the Board may be willing to work with
Mr Siyabonga Gama, should he be appointed, senior management

executives may opt to leave the company.”

The question that arises from this excerpt is: why would Ms Hogan say this if
President Zuma had not said to her that he wanted Mr Gama appointed as GCEO

of Transnet?

President Zuma denied Ms Hogan's version that his position was that his only
choice for the position of GCEO of Transnet was Mr Gama and that, insofar as Mr
Gama was still the subject of investigations and could be subjected to disciplinary
process, there would be no appointment of the GCEO of Transnet until those
processes had been completed. He said that his approach was to go along with the

recommendation of the board and to see to it that processes had been followed.
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Mr Zuma’s version must be rejected as a complete fabrication. If he had no
objection to appointing Mr Maseko who was recommended by both the board and
his own Minister of Public Enterprises, why then was Mr Maseko not appointed?
On Ms Hogan's version, the reason why Mr Maseko was not appointed is that Mr
Zuma would not allow the matter to be taken to Cabinet because he said that his
only choice was Mr Gama. Mr Zuma fled the Commission before he could be
asked to explain this. Therefore, on his version there is no explanation for why Mr

Maseko was not appointed.

In the last paragraph of the decision memorandum before her recommendation of

the appointment of Mr Maseko, Ms Hogan stated:

“In the event that Cabinet does not approve the appointment of any of the
preferred candidates recommended by the Board, consideration should be
given to commencing a new process of recruitment and selection conducted
by the shareholder in order to immunize the process from any further
controversy. However, in the interest of the company, this is not a preferred

route to follow.”

Mr Zuma acknowledged that he received the decision memorandum. Ms Hogan
testified that she did not receive any response from President Zuma to her decision
memorandum. So, again, if President Zuma's version that he had no objection to
the appointment of Mr Maseko as GCEOQ is true, why did he not allow Ms Hogan to
submit to Cabinet her Cabinet Memorandum recommending that Mr Maseko be
appointed? Ms Hogan has an answer for this question too. It was because
President Zuma was opposed to the appointment of Mr Maseko because he

wanted Mr Gama for that position. On Mr Zuma'’s versiaon, there is no explanation.

When President Zuma did not respond to this report and recommendation,

Ms Hogan sent President Zuma an urgent letter on 25 August 2009 requesting
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his assistance to expedite the placement of the memorandum on the agenda of
the cabinet meeting of 26 August 2009, stating that she considered it imperative
to brief Cabinet on the process and to request Cabinet's approval for the
appointment of Mr Maseko in the interests of leadership stability and certainty at
Transnet. She noted further that recent negative media reports surrounding the
position of GCEQO at Transnet, was affecting staff morale. The question has to be
asked: if, as Mr Zuma would have the Commission believe, he had no objection to
appointing Mr Maseko as GCEO, why did Ms Hogan need to send him a second
request to place before the Cabinet a memorandum recommending Mr Maseko’s
appointment? She testified that she had to do all this because President Zuma was
refusing to appoint Mr Maseko. It is difficult to think how Mr Zuma would have been
able to stand by his version when questioned on the basis of all these documents if

he had not fled the Commission to avoid answering questions.

77. Ms Hogan testified that President Zuma in response to her letter gave her
instructions to withdraw the memorandum and requested her to provide him
with the names of three potential chairpersons for Transnet.®' She was told that
the Cabinet Secretariat was instructed by President Zuma to withdraw the

memorandum.®

78. President Zuma's refusal to appoint Mr Maseko as GCEO of Transnet and his
insistence on appointing Mr Gama to that position — even as Mr Gama was facing
investigations into allegations of serious acts of misconduct — including allegations
of misconduct relating to tenders - reflects the first steps taken by President Zuma

towards the capture of Transnet by the Guptas with President Zuma's assistance.

81 Transcript 12 November 2018, p 87, lines 20-21 and p 89, lines 13-14
82 Transcript 12 November 2018, p 88, lines 4-5
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79. It would seem that from around the end of August 2009 to the end of June 2010
when Mr Gama was dismissed, Ms Hogan did not take any further steps towards
the appointment of the GCEO of Transnet. Her version is that that was because
President Zuma had told her that the filling of that position would have to wait for

the outcome of Mr Gama'’s disciplinary process.

80. The preference for Mr Gama received support from two Cabinet ministers, Mr Jeff
Radebe, and General Nyanda (who was the owner of the company implicated in
the procurement irregularities that led ultimately to Mr Gama’s dismissal), the ANC
Secretary-General, Mr Gwede Mantashe and certain factions within the ANC. Mr
Mantashe testified that he supported Mr Gama because it was appropriate to
promote “black excellence” and Mr Gama had demonstrated his abilities during his
career at Transnet. He preferred Mr Gama above the white candidate favoured by
the board and was concerned about racism. He also held to the fiction that the
board had initially favoured Mr Gama as second in line when it recommended the
appointment of Mr Gordhan, when it had in fact not made such a decision and
twice had considered Mr Gama to be unsuitable. Mr Mantashe's account is
accordingly implausible and inconsistent with the facts. Mr Gama never competed
against a white candidate. Mr Wells had put in an application for the position but
withdrew it after a few days of making it. The only candidates preferred by the
board with whom Mr Gama competed were Mr Gordhan and Mr Maseko. Mr
Mantashe during his testimony to the Commission claimed not to know that, which
is not credible given his obvious contemporaneous interest and his role in

deployments by the governing party.®®

8 Transcript 14 April 2021, p 198-211
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81. Immediately before, and in the days following his suspension, Minister Radebe,
Minister Nyanda, the ANC, the South African Communist Party, the South
African Transport Workers Union (“SATAWU”) and the ANC Youth League
(under Mr Julius Malema at the time) all issued strong and harsh statements
in support of Mr Gama, accusing Transnet of persecuting him. Mr Randall
Howard, the General Secretary of SATAWU, and senior figure in COSATU, was a

vocal supporter of Mr Gama.?*

82. In their evidence before the Commission both President Zuma and Ms Hogan
confirmed that the deployment committee of the governing party, the ANC,
identifies appropriate candidates for appointment as CEOs of State Owned
Enterprises (“SOEs").?® It is therefore reasonable to infer from the public support
shown for Mr Gama by key members of the ANC that he also enjoyed the support
of the deployment committee and this led ultimately to his appointment as GCEOQO in

2016.

83. Ms Hogan considered the support given to Mr Gama to have been part of
“‘concerted attempts” to improperly influence the appointment process of the

Transnet GCEO and a material breach of corporate governance.

84. When President Zuma gave evidence on 17 July 2019, he objected to the manner
in which he was being questioned in relation to the report of 28 July 2009 put
before him by Ms Hogan regarding Mr Gama. After a discussion in chambers, the
proceedings were adjourned and President Zuma did not testify again before the
Commission. The upshot of this is that while President Zuma did testify in relation

to this issue he did not fully address the allegations by Ms Hogan that he was party

84 Exh L1, p 12, para 45
85 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 10, line 10 et seq
88 Exh L 1, p 10, para 35
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to a breach of corporate governance at Transnet and thwarted Ms Hogan’s efforts

to appoint Mr Maseko because he favoured Mr Gama.

85. In relation to Mr Gama’s candidacy, President Zuma said that following a process
of discussion within Cabinet, there was a view that “this man [Mr Gama] we know
him, he has been working here, he is capable, and then at the end [ think there was

kind of a stronger view that now let us take the decision that we should take him."®"

86. Regarding the recommendation of Mr Maseko, President Zuma claimed to
remember the name, but not the background and details.®® He admitted that
Ms Hogan had briefed him in June 2009 about the need for Transnet to appoint a
GCEO and new chairperson of the board, the board’s choice of Mr Maseko and the
investigation into the misconduct of Mr Gama.®® He, however, denied that he told
Ms Hogan that Mr Gama was his only choice for GCEO because this would have
constituted a deviation from the proper process (the decision had to be taken
collectively by Cabinet). He did not recall if he was told that it would be “messy” to
appoint Mr Gama considering the charges he was facing and denied he said that
no appointments whatsoever were to be made at Transnet until Mr Gama's

disciplinary process was over.%

87. President Zuma could neither admit nor deny that there was widespread vocal
support for Mr Gama to be appointed as the next GCEO of Transnet. He
maintained that from his perspective he had no preference for Mr Gama and was

willing to abide the outcome of the final decision.®’ He recalled that there were

87 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 40, line 24 — p 41, line 3
88 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 45, lines 1-7

8 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 45, lines 20-24

90 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 46, line 1 — p 50, line 19
1 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 52, line 19 — p 54, line 19
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allegations relating to Mr Gama and General Nyanda, but did not remember the
detail.*> There were murmurs about Mr Gama being victimised, but he could not
recall the detail.?®* He could not remember the final conclusion of Mr Gama's

disciplinary inquiry.*

88. President Zuma admitted that he had received and read the comprehensive report
(dated 28 July 2009) sent to him by Ms Hogan.®® He did not take issue with the
report, which, inter alia, stressed the urgent need for the appointment of a GCEO.%
He was not able to remember whether he responded to Ms Hogan or the
recommendation in the report.”” The process was that unless he raised an
important issue with a Minister, a Cabinet memorandum would be placed before
Cabinet for discussion.®® It was the Cabinet Secretariat's responsibility to ensure

that the memorandum went to Cabinet.®?

89. Having denied that he insisted that Mr Gama be appointed and delayed the
appointment of a GCEO, President Zuma intimated that he had no difficulty with
the memorandum proposing the appointment of Mr Maseko being placed before
Cabinet. Because he walked out of the Commission and refused to return,
President Zuma did not directly answer the allegation that after receiving Ms
Hogan's letter of 25 August 2009 he instructed her to withdraw the matter of Mr

Maseko's appointment from the Cabinet agenda.

%2 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 59, line 14 — p 60, line 6

%3 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 60, lines 7-19

% Transcript 17 July 2019, p 60, line 20 — p 61, line 3

95 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 61, line 24 — p 62, line 3

% Transcript 17 July 2019, p 75, lines 13-18

¥ Transcript 17 July 2019, p 79, lines 24-25; p 89, lines 1-5
9 Transcript 17 July 2019, p 82, lines 11-17

% Transcript 17 July 2019, p 84, lines 18-25
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90. The evidence of President Zuma that he did not insist at his meeting with
Ms Hogan in June 2009 that Mr Gama be appointed and that he did not seek to
prevent the appointment of Mr Maseko, stands to be rejected. President Zuma’s
position was “Mr Gama or nothing”. Despite having received Ms Hogan’s report on
or about 28 July 2009 and acknowledging the urgent need for the appointment of a
GCEOQ, he allowed the position to go unfilled for almost two years until his removal

of Ms Hogan as Minister with effect from 1 November 2010.

91. The failure of President Zuma to respond to the contemporaneous
correspondence, the practices of the ANC deployment committee, the vocal public
support for Mr Gama by senior members of the ANC, the attacks on the members
of the board, the fact that President Zuma allowed the position of GCEO to go
unfilled for a period of 15 months and the subsequent removal of Ms Hogan as
Minister of Public Enterprises on 31 October 2010, all support Ms Hogan's version

that President Zuma insisted on the appointment of Mr Gama.

92. Hence, President Zuma's version is improbable as most evident from the fact that
Mr Maseko was not appointed despite the desires and best efforts of the board and
Ms Hogan. There is no other plausible explanation for the non-appointment of Mr
Maseko. The evidence of President Zuma that he did not insist on Mr Gama and
did not seek to prevent the appointment of Mr Maseko accordingly stands to be

rejected as untruthful and false.

The dismissal of Mr Gama

93. Various witnesses gave evidence regarding the dismissal, reinstatement and

subsequent promotion of Mr Gama, which forms important background to the role
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he played at Transnet and the political pressure and influence brought to bear in

his favour during the period of state capture.'®

94. Disciplinary proceedings were instituted against Mr Gama on three charges in late
August 2009'°" and he was suspended on full pay from 1 September 2009."%? On
10 September 2009, Mr Gama brought an urgent application in the High Court
challenging the legality of his suspension and the decision to institute disciplinary
proceedings against him.'® Amongst Mr Gama's grounds for urgency was that
Cabinet was about to consider the appointment of a new GCEO of Transnet and
that the disciplinary action was timed to prejudice his prospects of filling the
vacancy, for which he considered himself the front runner.'™ On 7 October 2009,
the High Court dismissed Mr Gama's application with costs in favour of Transnet,
Mr Wells (the acting GCEOQ), the Group Executive: Human Resources, Mr Pradeep
Maharaj (who were represented by Bowman Gilfillan), and eight Transnet directors

who opposed the application (who were represented by Eversheds).'®®

95. Mr Gama's subsequent disciplinary inquiry took place over 14 days
between 13 January and 25 February 2010. The inquiry was chaired by

Adv Antrobus SC, who found Mr Gama guilty on three charges.'®

100 Mr Todd, Mr Mkwanazi, Mr Mapoma, Mr Gigaba and Mr Mahlangu all gave evidence in this regard: Mr Todd
(an attorney) represented Transnet during Mr Gama'’s dismissal dispute; Mr Mkwanazi was the chairperson of the
board, acting GCEO and the lead negotiator of the settlement with Mr Gama; Mr Mapoma was the GM: Group
Legal Services; Mr Gigaba was the Minister of Public Enterprises; and Mr Mahlangu was Mr Gigaba's special
adyvisor.

101 Transnet-02-155, paras 83-84

192 Transnet-02-157, para 96

103 Transnet-03-069, para 29

104 Transnet-02-145, para 15; Transnet-02-156, para 87

105 Transnet-02-142-163; and Transnet-02-162, para 121

106 Transnet-03-074, para 51
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96. The first charge was that Mr Gama authorised the irregular conclusion of a contract
by confinement (after cancelling an open bid process) for the provision of security
services (at an ultimate cost of more than R95 million) by GNS (the company
owned by General Nyanda, later a member of President Zuma's cabinet) in excess
of his delegated authority (R10 million).'” The chairperson found Mr Gama guilty
on this charge in that he negligently authorised the conclusion of the contract and
signed it without reading it and negligently failed to take appropriate steps to

investigate the irregularities associated with the halting of an open tender process.

97. The second charge against Mr Gama concerned his failure to properly execute a
contractual condition imposed by the board in a contract with Electro Motive
Division (“EMD?") for the provision of 50 “like new” refurbished locomotives requiring
the reservation of all the local work on engineering, assembly and maintenance for
Transnet Engineering (“TE”). The chairperson found that Mr Gama was negligent in
failing to secure a contractual term which provided for TE to perform all the local
work.'%® Mr Gama admitted that he failed to read the contract or to acquaint himself
with its content and implications in order to ensure compliance with the board

resolution.

98. The third charge upheld by the chairperson was that during the investigation into
his conduct and in the various proceedings, Mr Gama had made statements critical
of the motives, conduct and integrity of senior executives of Transnet and members
of the board which were unjustified, unreasonable, calculated to cause harm and
had led to an irretrievable breakdown in the trust relationship between Mr Gama as

the CEO of TFR and Transnet.

107 Transnet-03-243
108 Transnet-03-404, para 330
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During the disciplinary hearing it was put to Transnet witnesses that Mr Gama only
knew General Nyanda (the owner of GNS) as a well-known politician. However, Mr
Gama's cell phone records showed regular contact between Mr Gama and General
Nyanda in the period preceding the award of the contract, including a call on 1
December 2007, four days before Mr Gama signed the confinement in favour of
GNS. Mr Gama then explained that he had given his counsel an incorrect
instruction because he "wanted to put some distance between me and the
General" and admitted that General Nyanda was an acquaintance with whom he
had played golf, with whom he spoke on the phone when there were family
bereavements, and who had called him to commiserate when he had been

suspended.'®®

On 28 June 2010, the chairperson of the inquiry recommended Mr Gama's
dismissal.”"® He did so on the basis that the appropriate sanction in respect of each
of the charges viewed in isolation was dismissal, and that viewed cumulatively,

dismissal was surely appropriate. Mr Gama was dismissed on 29 June 2010."""

The role of Mr Gigaba as Minister of Public Enterprises

101.

Following Mr Gama's dismissal, and Mr Maseko having withdrawn his application,
Ms Hogan sought to secure the appointment of a new board that would commence
a fresh search for a new GCEOQO. She did so by attempting to place a memorandum
dated 27 October 2010 before Cabinet.''? She was then called to a meeting with
President Zuma and the Secretary-General of the ANC, Mr Mantashe, on 31

October 2010, and advised of her removal as the Minister of Public Enterprises and

109 Transnet-03-311, para 149 et seq
110 Transnet-03-442-478

"1 Transnet-03-094, para 5(b)
"2Exh L 1, p 14, paras 52-56
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re-deployment as the ambassador to Finland. She declined the re-deployment and
indicated her intention to resign as an MP.""® Ms Hogan contends that she was
removed because she resisted the repeated attempts to improperly influence

executive and board appointments at Transnet and other SOEs.'

102. The following day, 1 November 2010, President Zuma appointed Mr Gigaba as
Minister of Public Enterprises. Mr Gigaba remained the Minister of Public
Enterprises until 25 May 2014, which period spanned the procurement and

acquisition of the 100 and 1064 locomotives.

103. Mr Gigaba had a close relationship with the Gupta family (as did President Zuma
and members of his family) which commenced in the early 2000s when he was the
president of the ANC youth league. In affidavits filed with the Commission and in
response to questions from the Fundudzi investigation, Mr Gigaba initially sought to
downplay the relationship, but his testimony reveals that he had extensive,

recurring contact with the Gupta family over a number of years.'™

104. When asked in a written interrogatory sent to him by the Fundudzi investigation on
18 March 2019 if he had “any” relationship with the Guptas, and if so to describe its
nature, Mr Gigaba answered “no”.'"® During his testimony to the Commission, he
implausibly sought to explain away the falsehood on the basis that the question
was ambiguous (which it plainly was not)'"” and that he meant that he had no
relationship beyond a social and cultural one. This interpretation is unsustainable in

that the question posed by Fundudzi was general in nature (it asked if there was

"3 Exh L1, p 14-15, para 57

4 ExhL 1, p 24, para 108

115 Transcript 21 June 2021, p 58-71

116 Transcript 21 June 2021, p 59, line 5
"7 Transcript 21 June 2021, p 62-66
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“any” relationship) and provided a follow up question asking for a description of the
relationship, intended to elicit the nature of any relationship. In a further affidavit
filed in August 2021, after he had completed his testimony before the Commission,
Mr Gigaba re-visited the issue.'’® He averred that the answers to the Fundudzi
interrogatories were given on his behalf (presumably on his instructions) by his
attorney, Mr Tshabalala, in April 2019. As he now saw it, on reflection, the question
posed by Fundudzi was in the present tense and thus he assumed that the
question was inquiring whether he had a relationship with the Guptas in 2019.
While admitting that he had a relationship (exclusively social and cultural in nature)
with the Guptas that endured for a number of years, which was well known, he
started to distance himself from them in 2014 when he came to see them as
“‘peddlers of influence”. The question posed by Fundudzi, Mr Gigaba said, was
“vague”, and despite his belated explanation for the answer in the negative being
“technical” in nature, he contends that his answer in the negative was an accurate
answer to the question because by 2019 he indeed had no relationship with the

Guptas.

105. The questions posed were clearly intended to elicit an explanation of the nature
and extent of any relationship with the Guptas. A categorical unqualified negative
answer created the impression that there was no relationship at any time. A
reasonable person with the background and experience of Mr Gigaba, with full
knowledge of the scandals concerning the association of the Guptas with many
politicians, including him, would have known and understood the import and
intention of the questions posed by the organisation conducting a forensic
investigation into wrongdoing at Transnet during the time he was the responsible

Minister. His false answer and his subsequent belated “technical” answer do not

118 Transnet-11-1084, para 139 et seq
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assist him and, if anything, add convincingly to a finding that his testimony should

not be believed.

Mr Gigaba in fact knew all the Gupta brothers and their mother, " was especially a
friend of Mr Ajay Gupta (who he would visit at Sahara Computers)'?® and made
regular visits to the Gupta Saxonwold compound while he was Minister of Public
Enterprises.’>' His special advisor, Mr Siyabonga Mahlangu, was tasked with
managing the Guptas and was a buffer between Mr Gigaba and Mr Ajay Gupta so
as not to confuse the roles of friendship and business.’” He permitted Mr
Mahlangu to travel with President Zuma's son, Mr Duduzane Zuma, to a Gupta
wedding in India. The trip was paid for by Sahara Computers and Mr Mahlangu
was paid his salary during his absence. Mr Gigaba attended the notorious Gupta

wedding at Sun City'?® and the Guptas were invited to his wedding.'*

On 24 November 2010, an internal memorandum which proposed a list of
candidates for appointment as non-executive directors to the Transnet board was
approved by Mr Gigaba. This memorandum indicated that only three non-executive
directors would be retained, in disregard of a decision taken at the Transnet AGM
in July 2010 to reappoint all non-executive directors. This meant that a total of 12
new board positions were filled at this stage. In an addendum to the memorandum,
it was proposed that MrVijay Raman be replaced by Mr Sharma (who in
2013/2014 was the business partner of Gupta associate, Mr Essa, and later

assumed control of the BADC). The substitution of Mr Raman with Mr Sharma was

19 Transcript 21 May 2021, p 118-119; and Transcript 21 June 2021, p 61
120 Transcript 18 June 2021, p 43; and Transcript 21 June 2021, p 59
121 Transcript 21 June 2021, p 114-129; Transcript 27 May 2021, p 207-215; and Transcript 18 June 2021,

p 137-153

122 Transcript 18 June 2021, p 43
123 Transcript 27 May 2021, p 276
124 Transcript 31 May 2021, p 28
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questionable in the light of the Minister’s responsibility to ensure that the board had
an appropriate mix of skills and experience. The change replaced the only railway

specialist (Mr Raman) with another business and strategy specialist (Mr Sharma).

108. On 8 December 2010, Cabinet approved Mr Gigaba's recommendations for the
board at Transnet (including the appointment of a new chairperson — Mr Mafika
Mkwanazi). The new board included Mr Sharma. A few days after his appointment
as chairperson of the board, Mr Mkwanazi was appointed as acting GCEO by Mr
Gigaba to replace Mr Wells who resigned on the same day as President Zuma

appointed Mr Gigaba as Minister.

109. Mr Gigaba was later party to an attempt to appoint Mr Sharma as chairperson of
the board. Cabinet rejected that recommendation. A newspaper article of 9 June
2011 stated that the reason Cabinet “shot down™ Mr Gigaba's recommendation for
Mr Sharma’s appointment was because he was inexperienced and therefore risked
a negative reaction from the capital markets, and that there were “fears that he
may be closely identified with the wealthy Gupta family”. Mr Sharma, as mentioned,
went on to be appointed as the Chair of the BADC, which played a central role in

key procurement decisions that advanced the interests of the Gupta enterprise.

The appointment of Mr Brian Molefe as GCEO

110. Shortly after the appointment of Mr Gigaba as Minister, in December 2010, prior to
the publication of the advertisement for applications to fill the GCEO vacancy, the
Gupta owned newspaper, the New Age, predicted the appointment of Mr Molefe as
GCEO of Transnet.'” In January 2011 a special Nominations and Governance

Committee was convened and a recruitment agency, Leaders Unlimited (“LU"),

125 Transcript 8 March 2021, p 95-108
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was appointed to lead the process. Mr Sharma nominated Mr Molefe for the
position,'?®* who was contacted by LU a few days later and he furnished it with his
curriculum vitae.'” In early February 2011, nine candidates were interviewed,
including Mr Molefe and Mr Gama (who by then had been dismissed). Mr Sharma

sat on the selection panel that interviewed Mr Molefe and scored him.'?®

111. On 11 February 2011, the board resolved to submit a list of three preferred
candidates for GCEO to the Minister, which included Mr Molefe and Dr Mandla
Gantsho, the highest scoring candidate. The Ministerial guidelines for appointment
of a CEO for a SOE required the board to submit a minimum of three shortlisted
candidates and to indicate its preferred candidate. The board in this instance failed
to identify its preferred candidate and abdicated its responsibility to identify the
person it preferred.’® Mr Gigaba did not consider the board’s omission as material
and felt no need to refer the matter back to the board to indicate its preferred
candidate.’™® In a memorandum dated 14 February 2011, Mr Gigaba requested
Cabinet to “note” the appointment of Mr Molefe as “the most suitable candidate” for
the position of GCEO,'®" and inappropriately failed to inform it that Dr Gantsho was
the highest scoring candidate as he preferred Mr Molefe on the basis of his
experience at the Public Investment Corporation.'*? On 16 February 2011, Cabinet
approved the appointment of Mr Molefe as the GCEO. In effect, Mr Gigaba (a

friend of the Guptas) was instrumental in the appointment of Mr Molefe (another

126 Transcript 8 March 2021, p 104

127 Transcript 8 March 2021, p 105

128 Transcript 27 May 2021, p 229. He belatedly recused himself and his scores were not taken into account —
though his preference by then was clearly known.

123 Supplementary affidavit of Mr Mkwanazi, Transnet-04-021.423, para 5.14

130 Transcript 27 May 2021, p 231 et seq

131 Transcript 27 May 2021, p 228

132 Transcript 27 May 2021, p 232-245
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friend of the Guptas), with his appointment having been predicted in the newspaper

owned by the Guptas, and initiated by Mr Sharma (another Gupta associate).

112. The evidence confirms that Mr Molefe knew the Guptas well, particularly Mr Ajay
Gupta who he spoke to on the phone often. His interaction with Mr Ajay Gupta
started some years before his appointment as GCEO in 2011. He attended regular
social functions and private meetings at the Gupta compound and would visit about
once a month, on average. It is estimated that Mr Molefe may have gone to the
Gupta compound as many as 50 times in the four years that he was GCEO at
Transnet. The Guptas also visited his home."** During his tenure as GCEO, Mr
Molefe supported substantial payments to the Gupta owned newspaper, the New
Age, for advertising and marketing events, which others at Transnet regarded as
being of questionable value.’ Other evidence, discussed later, points to the fact
that the Guptas influenced the decision to transfer Mr Molefe to Eskom, first on

secondment as the acting CEO and later as CEO in 2015.

113. Mr Molefe went on to oversee the substantial procurements at Transnet from which
the Gupta network illegally benefitted. Most of the transactions were approved by
the BADC chaired by Mr Sharma, who was in a close business relationship with Mr
Essa who had a 20-21% interest (via the dubious BDSAs) in the transactions.
Ultimately, under Mr Molefe’s watch, the Gupta enterprise received more than R3.5

billion in (proven) kickbacks in respect of the locomotives procured.

114. Despite the perpetrators of this massive racketeering, corruption and money

laundering being his friends and associates operating in the Transnet space,

133 Transcript 8 March 2021, p 143-184
134 Transcript 10 March 2021, p 136-145
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Mr Molefe maintains he was wholly unaware of any wrongdoing.'*® His denials are
not credible when assessed against his role and involvement in the many
transactional decisions during the procurement and contractual processes
analysed later in this report. Mr Molefe was reluctant to acknowledge that he felt
betrayed by the plundering of Transnet, during his time as GCEO, by his good
friends, the Guptas. He stated that he preferred rather to reserve judgment until

their crimes were established beyond all reasonable doubt.136

The reinstatement of Mr Gama

115. The process to reinstate Mr Gama appears to have begun (at around the same
time as the process that led to the appointment of Mr Molefe) in a meeting between
Mr Gigaba and Mr Mkwanazi either before 1 November 2010 or in early November
2010.%37 Prior to this, in July 2010, Mr Gama had referred an unfair dismissal
dispute to the Transnet Bargaining Council '® and later limited his claim to a
contention that dismissal was an inappropriate sanction.'® During the meeting with
Mr Mkwanazi, Mr Gigaba requested that the incoming board should review the
fairness of the dismissal of Mr Gama'®® because he thought the sanction of
dismissal was unfair and too harsh for two reasons: firstly, because white

employees had committed more serious acts of misconduct and had not been

135 Transcript 8 March 2021, p 134-136

138 Transcript 8 March 2021, p 179 et seq

137 Transcript 21 May 2021, p 161, lines 14-17
138 Transnet-03-091-097

13¢ Transnet-03-103, para 3

140 Transnet-04-021.415, para 6
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dismissed;'*' and secondly, because Transnet had not followed the applicable

condonation process for condoning procurement irregularities.?

116. A new board was appointed with Mr Mkwanazi as the new chairperson on
13 December 2010. On 22 December 2010, the Public Protector notified Transnet
that she was conducting an investigation into certain allegations that the Transnet
board had unfairly conspired to prevent Mr Gama from successfully applying for the
vacant post of GCEO."® Mr Mkwanazi enlisted the assistance of Mr Siyabulela
Mapoma, GM: Group Legal Services, to deal with the Public Protector

investigation.™*

117. According to Mr Mapoma, Mr Mkwanazi made it clear to him that he had been
instructed to reinstate Mr Gama. Mr Mapoma assumed the instruction came from
President Zuma. When Mr Mapoma later asked why Transnet was reinstating Mr
Gama, Mr Mkwanazi “indicated initially that this was coming from the
ministry...later on, he indicated that it was coming from higher up”.'*®> Mr Mkwanazi
denied Mr Mapoma'’s version, stating that the shareholder instruction was to review
the fairness of the dismissal, and that Mr Mapoma had made his own assumption
about President Zuma'’s involvement.™® Mr Gigaba testified that he had not given
Mr Mkwanazi an instruction to reinstate Mr Gama,'*’ did not discuss the issue with

President Zuma and had received no instruction from him.'#8

141 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 83, line 14 —p 85, line 10
142 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 76, lines 3-7

143 Transnet-02-024

144 Transnet-03-006-007, paras 12-13

145 Transcript 14 October 2020, p 202, lines 3-11

146 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 101, lines 9-25

147 Transcript 21 May 2021, p 164, lines 15-18

148 Transcript 21 May 2021, p 179, line 24 — p 180, line 1
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118. Sometime before 13 January 2011, Transnet, on the advice of Mr Mahlangu, Mr
Gigaba's special advisor, engaged Mr Sibusiso Gule of the law firm Deneys Reitz
to assist it."*? Mr Mahlangu testified that Mr Mkwanazi had informed him (at this
early stage) that Transnet intended to reinstate Mr Gama. ' Asked why he had not
contacted Mr Christopher Todd, the attorney from Bowman Gilfillan that had
represented Transnet in the matter, Mr Mkwanazi accepted that he did not really
want to hear that Transnet was going to win the arbitration of the dismissal

dispute.’®’

119. On 18 January 2011, after a discussion with Mr Mkwanazi, Mr Mahlangu sent Mr
Gigaba an email informing him that Transnet was nearing a settlement with Mr
Gama and suggesting that he “socialise the President and his key aides (formal &
informal) on the proposed settlement”.’> Mr Mkwanazi could not explain how Mr
Mahlangu could have reported to Mr Gigaba that settlement was imminent as early
as 18 January 2011 (unless the decision was pre-determined).’® Mr Gigaba
testified that he did not respond to the email as he saw it as a “run of the mill heads

up” and had thus not “socialised” President Zuma.'>*

120. On Friday, 21 January 2011, Mr Ndiphiwe Silinga (a Transnet legal advisor)
advised Mr Todd that Mr Mkwanazi™ had instructed that the steps taken to
recover from Mr Gama the costs awarded to Transnet in the High Court application
should be halted and the arbitration set down for hearing during the week

commencing 24 January 2011 should be postponed indefinitely, so as to allow the

149 Transcript 23 October 2020, p 62, line 8 — p 63, line 21

150 Transnet-01-170, paras 6-7; Transcript 23 October 2020, p 65, lines 11-14

151 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 162, line 7 —p 163, line 7

152 Transnet-01-178

153 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 116, line 11 —p 117, line 2

154 Transcript 21 May 2021, p 179, line 17 —p 181, line 3

55 Mr Mkwanazi was both the chairperson of the board and the Acting GCEO at the time
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parties to engage in settlement negotiations.'*® By this time, a warrant of execution

had been issued by Bowman Gilfillan for the costs due by Mr Gama.

121. On 22 January 2011 settlement negotiations were held between Transnet
(represented by Deneys Reitz) and Mr Gama (represented by Langa Attorneys).
Deneys Reitz's consultation note reflects Mr Mkwanazi as having stated during a
caucus held before the negotiations commenced that he wanted to assist Mr Gama
and bring him back into his office to assist him on strategic issues. If provided with
an opinion setting out some unfairness, he would persuade the other board
members to make a decision to bring Mr Gama back into the organisation.™” Mr
Mkwanazi in effect wanted some “friendly” legal advice from Deneys Reitz."®
During his testimony he explained that he believed Mr Gama had been treated
inconsistently, in that similar procurement irregularities had been condoned.™® He
was however forced to concede that the third charge (the unwarranted criticism
charge) was not a condonable irregularity and was serious enough to deserve the

sanction of dismissal on its own.'%®

122. Mr Mapoma testified that, after a meeting between Mr Mkwanazi and Mr Gama at
Inanda Estate, Mr Mkwanazi told him that they could not reach consensus on the
terms of reinstatement, because Mr Gama wanted to be reinstated as the GCEO of

Transnet — a position he had never held and for which the previous board

158 Transnet-03-105-106

157 Transnet-02-003, para 4

158 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 166, line 18 — p 167, line 1
158 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 135, line 21 — p 136, line 1
180 Transcript 16 October 2020, p 154, lines 7-12
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considered him unsuitable.’®' Mr Mkwanazi conceded that Mr Gama may have

asked for that."®? Mr Gama denied that he made the demand.®®

123. On 24 January 2011, Mr Todd wrote to Mr Silinga confirming that his instructions
had been carried out and asked him to inform Mr Mkwanazi that the legal team
representing Transnet was satisfied that it was likely that the fairness of the

sanction of dismissal would be upheld at arbitration.'®*

124. The minutes of the board meeting on 25 January 2011 record that Mr Mkwanazi
referred to more than 30 cases of transgressions similar to those of Mr Gama
mentioned in internal audit reports in 2008 and “a culture of condonation of
exceeding delegated authority”.'® Mr Mkwanazi accepted during his testimony
before the Commission that the irregularities in the audit reports were not identical
to those in Mr Gama’s case'®® but only broadly comparable.’® On 2 February
2011, Mr Todd prepared a report (‘the Todd report”’) for Transnet on the
disciplinary proceedings involving Mr Gama,'®® giving a full account of the matter,
Mr Gama's weak prospects of success and senior counsel’'s opinion that the
sanction of dismissal was likely to be upheld.'®® Mr Mkwanazi accepted that, on his

reading of the Todd report, it left no room for concluding that Transnet was actually

181 Transnet-03-008, para 19
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going to lose the arbitration. But this did not stop him from getting a second

opinion.'™®

125. On 3 February 2011, a meeting of the Nominations and Governance Committee,
comprising Mr Mkwanazi, Ms T Mnyaka, Ms Doris Tshepe and Mr Sharma, was
convened.'' The meeting first considered whether there should be a deviation
from clause 4.8.4 of Transnet’'s recruitment and selection policy providing that the
candidate for the still vacant GCEO position must not have been previously
dismissed from Transnet for reasons related to incapacity or misconduct so as to
permit Mr Gama to apply.’”? Clause 2 of the policy permitted deviation where
necessary in respect of executive appointments.’”® The CGNC resolved in favour
of Mr Gama by deciding to allow him to apply for the position,'™ despite advice by
senior counsel that by not challenging the findings of misconduct Mr Gama had
conceded that he was guilty and thus it would be irrational for Transnet to interview
him.'” The Nominations and Governance Committee also discussed the
settlement negotiations. The transcription of the meeting indicates that Mr Mapoma
advised that Transnet had good prospects of success in the arbitration. When Ms
Tshepe asked why in that case was Transnet settling, Mr Mkwanazi replied: “We
don't know” and later rated the prospects as 50/50." Mr Mkwanazi's answer that

he did not know why Transnet was not pursuing the arbitration suggests that he

170 Transcript16 October 2020, p 187, lines 15-19
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was indeed acting under instruction from someone higher up. Mr Mapoma in effect

said that the arbitration was postponed so as to avoid the possibility of a victory."””

126. Following a meeting with Mr Mkwanazi on 4 February 2011, Mr Mahlangu sent
Mr Gigaba an email advising him of Mr Gama'’s application for the vacant GCEO
position and the settlement negotiations with him."® Mr Mkwanazi shared this
information with Mr Mahlangu on account of the instruction that he had received

from Mr Gigaba to review Mr Gama'’s dismissal.®®

127. On 10 February 2011, Mr Gama signed a draft of the settlement agreement, which
provided for his reinstatement.’® This was before Deneys Reitz had provided any
advice, and appears to indicate that friendly advice was sought subsequently which
accorded with a decision that had already been taken.'®? On 14 February 2011, Mr
Mapoma sent Mr Gule of Deneys Reitz an email asking for a two pager for Mr
Mkwanazi for the board meeting of 16 February 2011 and attaching a draft to be
settled by Mr Gule.® The attached two-page memorandum (‘the Group Legal
opinion”) proposed a settlement of the dismissal dispute on generic grounds,
without any suggestion that the dismissal was unfair or an assessment of
prospects of success at arbitration.'®* Paragraph 7 of the memorandum included

the following sentence at the request of Mr Mkwanazi: '#
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“The Chairman of the Board, with the support of the Shareholder Minister has within
his rights and obligations decided to revisit the matter of the disciplinary proceedings

against Mr Gama.”

128. On 15 February 2011, Deneys Reitz sent Mr Mapoma a revised version of the
memorandum,'® including two additional paragraphs (numbered 10 and 11)
dealing generally with prospects of success, but without saying anything specific
about Mr Gama's case.'® These paragraphs stated that the issue of sanction is
complex to which there is no clear and straightforward answer and expressed the
view that there is a probability that the bargaining council or a court considering the
appropriateness of the sanction of dismissal could reach the conclusion that
dismissal was not appropriate and order compensation or reinstatement. During his
testimony Mr Mkwanazi said this created some doubt about Transnet's prospects
of success. He accepted though that the statement about the probabilities was
unsubstantiated and the opinion was “a weak submission”'®® in comparison with

the Todd report which he should have abided.'®®

129. The board met on 16 February 2011 and discussed the possible settlement.’ The
board members had before them the Todd report, the Group Legal opinion (with
the input of Deneys Reitz) and a draft settlement agreement negotiated by Mr
Mkwanazi, which provided for reinstatement.'' The board then decided that the
sanction of dismissal was too harsh on the grounds of inconsistency in that other
similar irregularities had been condoned.’® The board erred in this respect.

Condonation is a procurement process entirely distinct from decision making about
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the consequences that should follow from employee misconduct. In terms of
Transnet's PPM Directive 03/2010 condonation is a procurement procedure under
which a person or body with authority to incur expenditure is permitted to condone
the non-compliance with the laid down policies and directives.' It allows for minor
deviations from required procurement policies to be “condoned” so that if
expenditure was incurred in some circumstances it would not constitute
unauthorised or irregular expenditure. Material non-compliance will usually not be
condoned because these “have PFMA implications which could result in civil,
criminal or disciplinary steps being taken”. Even where matters have been

submitted for condonation disciplinary action can still follow."**

130. Furthermore, none of the three instances of misconduct for which Mr Gama was
dismissed was suitable for or capable of condonation in the sense contemplated in
Transnet's procurement policy.’® The misconduct in relation to the 50 “like new”
locomotives arose from Mr Gama's failing to comply with an important condition
prescribed by the board, which was that local work performed on refurbished
locomotives should be done by TE and not by an external partner. Mr Gama'’s
conduct was not a procurement irregularity that could be condoned and was not in
fact condoned by the board.'*® M